
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Beck

AGENDA November 04, 2015

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Beck

Presentation Becky Barnes, Administrator of Health Services at the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health
Department will be presenting a Community Health Plan for Hamilton County Residences
update.

Presentation ArtsBuild - Dan Bowers. Agenda Session only - October 28, 2015.

Minutes Recessed Meeting - October 14, 2015

Minutes Agenda Session - October 14, 2015

Minutes Regular Meeting - October 21, 2015

Report Trustee Monthly Report - September 2015

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report - September 2015

Res. No. 1115-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, and the bonds and
oaths of notaries previously elected.

Res. No. 1115-2 A Resolution confirming the reappointment by the County Mayor of one member to the Carter
Street Corporation Board of Directors for a term ending November 8, 2019.

Res. No. 1115-3 A Resolution making an appropriation to Pumpkin Patch in the amount of twenty five thousand
dollars ($25,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Two.

Res. No. 1115-4 A Resolution making an appropriation to Harrison Ruritan Foundation, Inc., in the amount of five
thousand dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District
Nine.

Res. No. 1115-5 A Resolution accepting the proposal of Kelly Services, Inc. for temporary employment agency
services, beginning January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2017, with the option to renew for
four (4) additional one (1) year periods, for the Human Resources Department and authorizing
the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1115-6 A Resolution accepting the proposal of Application Software, Inc dba ASIFlex for Flexible
Benefits Plan Administration Services, beginning January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2018,
with the option to renew for three (3) additional one (1) year periods, for the Human Resources
Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this
Resolution.

Res. No. 1115-7 A Resolution accepting the bid of Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram of Columbia for one (1) special
service truck amounting to $27,415.00 for the Sheriff’s Department and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1115-8 A Resolution accepting the bid of ASC Construction Equipment USA, Inc. for one (1) rubber tire
wheel loader and multiple attachments amounting to $119,980.00 for the Highway Department
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1115-9 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of September 1,
2015, through September 30, 2015, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1115-10 Resolution Number Not Used

Res. No. 1115-11 A Resolution approving the purchase of four (4) Lifepak 15 cardiac monitor/defibrillators and
supplies amounting to $147,657.88 from Physio Control, Inc. for Emergency Medical Services
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.



Res. No. 1115-12 A Resolution accepting the bids of Chattanooga Paper and Packaging, Kelsan, Inc.,
Chattanooga Noland Company and Roll-Aid Industrial Supply for contract unit pricing, beginning
November 7, 2015, through November 6, 2016, for maintenance supplies for the
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any
contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1115-13 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
enter into and execute a continuation subcontract in the amount of $156,000.00 with
Southside/Dodson Avenue Community health Centers for the provision of Women, Infants and
Children (WIC) services for a 24 month period to include October 1, 2015 through September
30, 2017.

Res. No. 1115-14 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to execute a contract between Hamilton County,
Tennessee, Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health
Department and the Hamilton County Coalition for services to prevent the initiation of tobacco
product use and electronic nicotine delivery system (ends) use among youth using already
budgeted funds from the State Department of Health’s Tobacco Settlement Grant in an amount
not to exceed $25,000.00 for the period ending December 31, 2016.

Res. No. 1115-15 A Resolution Re-Designating Randall L. Russell as Chief Judicial Commissioner for a term
beginning November 1, 2015, and ending April 30, 2016, and establishing the compensation to
be received.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 14, 2015 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 14th day of October, 2015, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston. Total present – 9.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were the County Mayor’s Chief of Staff Mike Compton, 

members of his administrative staff, Assistant County Attorney Dee Hobbs, and County 

Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Mackey requested that County Clerk Bill Knowles give the 

invocation.  Commissioner Mackey led in the pledge to the flag. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 

2 
 

Chairman Bankston announced that there was not any scheduled business for 

the Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

  

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

 

      

     Respectfully submitted: 

      

     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

 

______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 14, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 14th day of October, 2015, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. 

Commissioner Haynes was in the office and arrived moments after the roll was called.   

Total present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were the County Mayor’s Chief of Staff Mike Compton, 

members of his administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County 

Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 2

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

 An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 
matter of record. 

 Resolution No. 1015-25 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

 Resolution Nos. 1015-26 through 1015-28, 1015-34, 1015-35, 1015-40 through 
1015-44, 1015-46, 1015-49, and 1015-50 were assigned to the Finance 
Committee, chaired by Commissioner Boyd.  

 Resolution Nos. 1015-29A through 1015-32 were assigned to the Zoning 
Committee, chaired by Commissioner Haynes.  

 Resolution Nos. 1015-33, 1015-36 through 1015-39, 1015-45, 1015-47, 1015-48, 
and 1015-51 through 1015-53 were heard by a Committee of the Whole.  
 

Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 1015-33, 1015-36 through 1015-

39, 1015-45, 1015-47, 1015-48, and 1015-51 through 1015-53 would now be heard 

by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-33 

 

Commissioner Boyd introduced Dan Bowers, ArtsBuild President who spoke 

regarding this Resolution appropriating fifteen thousand dollars from general fund 

discretionary monies as allotted to district eight to the non-profit organization. Mr. 

Bowers thanked the Commission for their support of ArtsBuild in past years. It was 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 3

noted that ArtsBuild was previously known as Allied Arts of Greater Chattanooga. Mr. 

Bowers distributed a handout to members of the Commission which detailed the 

organization’s Cultural Community Connections (CCC) Grants, a grant initiative that 

began in 2012 as a way to provide arts and cultural experiences to community members 

of diverse backgrounds. To date, 58 grants have been awarded for a total of $145,000. 

It was noted that 44 different organizations currently receive funding through ArtsBuild.  

 

County Clerk Knowles asked that a copy of the handout be submitted to the 

Clerk’s office for the record.  

 

In response to Commissioner Beck’s concern that he had not received notice of a 

meeting between ArtsBuild and the Commission, Commissioner Graham reported that 

an email was sent out on September 3rd inviting several Commissioners to the meeting.  

 

Commissioner Graham spoke at length about a presentation given by ArtsBuild 

in which they outlined a plan for Commissioners to recommend to their state legislators 

regarding a new tax on cigarettes, amounting to one cent per cigarette. It was noted that 

the meeting was not in violation of the Sunshine Law as no business was considered, 

and the County Attorney was present for the meeting. Commissioner Graham added 

that the Diversity and Equity Committee discussed the proposed cigarette tax and 

asked that Mr. Bowers bring the presentation before the Commission as a whole.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 4

Clerk Knowles confirmed Commissioner Graham’s remark that a portion of the 

Arts Specialty License Plate fee was allocated by the law to the State Arts organization. 

 

In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Mr. Bowers explained that there is 

a broad definition of arts and culture, and a very diverse population has been served 

through the CCC grants in Hamilton County.  Mr. Bowers clarified that Commissioner 

Beck was invited to the meeting between ArtsBuild and the Commission.  

 

Commissioner Boyd emphasized that Resolution No. 1015-33 is not related to 

the tax increase on cigarettes. He clarified that ArtsBuild has asked the Commission to 

write a letter proposing a referendum in the County, which would be voted on by the 

entire population of Hamilton County. Commissioner Boyd spoke about attending the 

first Glass Street Initiative Festival, made possible through the CCC grants. He reported 

that the residents of Glass Street came together to promote community pride and 

development through art. He added that the CCC grants are used to promote arts and 

culture from the inner city to the entire community.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Bowers reported that last year 

ArtsBuild received 110 applications for grants from organizations in Hamilton County; 58 

grants were awarded.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 5

Chairman Bankston asked that any further discussion relate specifically to 

Resolution No. 1015-33.  

 

To illustrate the broadness of the definition of arts and culture, Mr. Bowers read 

from a list of the many projects that have been made possible through the CCC grants.  

 

Commissioner Beck thanked Commissioner Boyd for attending the Glass Street 

Initiative Festival, and noted his intention to support Resolution No. 1015-33.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-36 

 

Albert Kiser, Administrator of Finance, spoke regarding this item, which 

appropriates $11,388.89 to the 28th Community Development Corporation (CDC) to 

assist them in paying county property taxes and applicable fees and penalties for tax 

years 2011-2014. The 28th Community Development Corporation is a 501c3 

organization that uses HUD grants through the City of Chattanooga to construct new 

homes for sale to low income households. Mr. Kiser reported that from 2009-2012 the 

downturn in the economy prevented the corporation from selling three of the properties 

resulting in their inability to pay property taxes for the past four years. The City and 

County currently have liens on the three properties. The 28th CDC now has an 

opportunity to transfer the properties to another non-profit organization, Buffalo Valley 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 6

Inc., which will make the homes available to veterans. If passed this resolution will pay 

the past due county property tax liens in full and allow CDC to transfer the properties to 

Buffalo Valley, Inc. It was noted that the City of Chattanooga passed a similar resolution 

appropriating funds to assist in the payment of the past due city property taxes.  

 

Commissioner Graham added that while the County is unable to forgive property 

taxes, by assisting the 28th CDC in the payment of the taxes, the money would come 

right back to the County.  

 

Mr. Kiser clarified that the County would still be short the amount owed in 

property taxes.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields question, Mr. Kiser reported that no money 

would be involved in transferring the property to Buffalo Valley Inc. He added that the 

properties were initially acquired through HUD grant funds and if the transfer does not 

take place, some of the grant funds will have to be reimbursed.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Kiser clarified that Buffalo 

Valley Inc. will make the homes available for sale to veterans.  

  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 7

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-37 

  

 John Agan, Director of Engineering, spoke regarding this item, which amends 

Resolution No. 915-30, adopted on September 16, 2015, to correct Flood Insurance 

Rate Maps (FIRM), as associated with the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). It 

was noted the flood map dates were incorrect on the previously adopted maps.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-38 

 

 John Agan, Director of Engineering, spoke regarding this item, which accepts the 

bid of Dillard Construction, Inc. for the construction of the Sale Creek Middle/High 

School addition amounting to $10,499,029.00. It was noted that the new addition total 

47,100 square feet, as well as 8,506 square feet of renovations, and would include nine 

new classrooms, a new kitchen and cafeteria, four new science labs, and additional 

restrooms.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Kiser reported that the total 

budget for the project was $12 million dollars, including the architectural fee. 

Commissioner Boyd praised local architects Hefferlin and Kronenberg (H & K) for their 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 8

design of the school and coming in at $2 million dollars under budget. He thanked 

Administrator of Public Works and County Engineer Todd Leamon and his staff for their 

work on the project.  

  

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-39 

 

John Agan, Director of Engineering, spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to enter into an agreement with Terracon Consultants, Inc. for the 

construction and special inspection testing necessary for the construction of the Sale 

Creek Middle/High School addition, for an amount not to exceed $54,000.00. It was 

noted that the amount budgeted is based on previously Commission approved hourly 

rates.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Agan clarified that the 

inspection service covers all required special inspection testing. Commissioner Boyd 

added that the engineering fees for this project are reasonable as opposed to the 

engineering fees he previously took issue with involving the road construction project at 

East Brainerd Road, approved by Resolution No. 815-45.  Those costs were negotiated 

through the Tennessee Department of Transportation (TDOT). 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 9

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-45 

  

 This Resolution appoints Veronica Hurd to serve the remainder of Justin Strand’s 

term ending June 30, 2016 on the Hamilton County Community Corrections Advisory 

Board. Justin Strand recently resigned from the board.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-47 

 

 Don Allen, Administrator of General Services, spoke regarding this Resolution, 

which seeks to relinquish Hamilton County’s interest in a 1998 Ford E-350 van, which is 

currently co-titled with the Dallas Bay Fire Department. It was noted that the Dallas Bay 

Fire Department plans to sell the vehicle and use the proceeds to purchase firefighting 

equipment.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Allen stated that he was 

unaware of any conditions involved in the sale of the vehicle.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 10

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-48 

 

 Don Allen, Administrator of General Services, spoke regarding this Resolution, 

which authorizes the Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department to sell a 1991 Ford E-350. 

ambulance which is currently co-titled with Hamilton County Government.  

  

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-51 

 

 Commissioner Bankston spoke regarding this item, which appropriates one 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district nine, to 

the Chattanooga Boys Choir. It was noted that the funds will assist the non-profit with 

their Ambassadors of Goodwill trip to Germany.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Beck’s question regarding the conditions involved 

in Resolution Nos. 1015-47 and 1015-48, Mr. Allen stated that he would look into the 

matter and report to the Commission.  

 

 Chairman Bankston clarified that no action would be taken on Resolution No. 

1015-47 and 1015-48 until further details were provided from Mr. Allen.   



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 11

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-52 

 

 Commissioner Bankston spoke regarding this item, which appropriates two 

thousand five hundred dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to 

district 9, to the Hamilton County Special Tactics and Rescue Services (STARS). It was 

noted that the funds will assist with the purchase of fuel and other expenses to assist 

the program.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-53 

 

 County Auditor Bill McGriff spoke regarding this Resolution, which will adopt a 

policy providing for independent external investigations into allegations of negligence or 

misconduct committed by officials, employees, and/or contractors of the Hamilton 

County Medical Examiner’s Office, as they relate to grants received by Hamilton County 

under the Paul Coverdell Forensic Science Improvement Grants Program. It was noted 

that the written policy is part of the eligibility requirements by the state to obtain grant 

funds in the amount of $23,500, no county match required. The funds will be used to 

upgrade the Medical Examiner’s film x-ray process to computed radiography (CR).  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 12

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. McGriff clarified that the 

policy will not require any additional funding or increase in employment by the County 

as the State Comptroller allows the County Auditor to investigate allegations of 

misconduct independently, and the staff to conduct those investigations already exists.  

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately following 

the Agenda Session. 

 

Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Zoning Committee, announced that the 

Zoning Committee would be meeting in the Conference Room immediately following the 

Agenda Session.  

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

 Commissioner Haynes reminded the Commission about the community meeting 

with District 3 City Councilman Ken Smith and District 3 School Board member Greg 

Martin on October 19th at 6:30 PM at Abba’s House. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 13

 Commissioner Graham spoke about the potential cigarette tax mentioned earlier 

in the meeting. He clarified for the record that he does not support a tax on cigarettes, 

and he will not be supporting a referendum involving a tax on cigarettes. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd reminded the Commission about the Hotel-Motel Occupancy 

Privilege Tax. The tax was levied in Hamilton County in order to generate additional 

revenue for the Chattanooga Convention and Visitors Bureau to assist in promoting 

tourism. He reported statistics from the Chattanooga Convention and Visitors Bureau’s 

annual meeting noting that the hotel tax has generated over $6.5 million per year, with 

tourism approaching a $1 billion economic impact in Chattanooga. He praised the 

decision of former Commissioners to impose the hotel tax as well as the efforts Mayor 

Coppinger has made to reduce tobacco use in Hamilton County. He encouraged the 

Commission to keep an open mind about a potential cigarette tax.  

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks congratulated the Sale Creek High School Volleyball 

team for winning the Region 3-A Tournament and advancing to the Sub-State 

Tournament.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley announced that at 11:00 am Superintendent Rick Smith 

would be giving a State of the Schools address at the Department of Education. She 

encouraged the Commission to attend the address. Commissioner Smedley also 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 14

thanked Mr. Bowers for the detailed information he brought to the Commission 

regarding ArtsBuild.  

 

 Commissioner Beck wished Commissioner Graham a happy birthday.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 

Monty Bell, a homeless resident of Hamilton County for 17 years, addressed the 

Commission regarding racial disparity in the criminal justice system. The Chairman 

suggested to Mr. Bell that he seek employment. 

 

In response to Chairman Bankston, Mr. Bell explained that he couldn’t find a job 

that would pay him what he thought his value was worth. 

 

Commissioner Beck commented that the Commission is not the venue for an 

individual to bring their personal agendas.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 14, 2015 
 
 

 15

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, October 21st at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      
      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

Approved: 

           

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 21, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 21st day of October, 2015, a Regular Meeting 

of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

2 

 

Commissioner Mackey introduced Reverend Jonathan Schwartz, Brainerd 

Presbyterian Church, who gave the invocation. He spoke about the importance of 

leadership and strong character. Commissioner Mackey led in the pledge to the flag.  

 

Chairman Bankston welcomed a group of seniors and staff from the Chattanooga 

STEM School to today’s Commission meeting.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, that the 

minutes of the Recessed Meeting of September 30, 2015, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of September 30, 2015, and the Regular Meeting of October 6, 2015, be 

approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion 

was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

3 

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

 An order was submitted for the record designating Todd Leamon to sit as the 

County Mayor’s representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting of October 

12, 2015. 

 

 Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution No. 1015-54 be read into the record. 

He reported that this Resolution is a time sensitive item and would be discussed at 

today’s meeting. The voting will take place at the Recessed Meeting on October 28th.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-54  A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS 

RELATING TO THE MCKEE FOODS CORPORATION PROJECT, TO DELEGATE 

CERTAIN AUTHORITY TO THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF 

AD VALOREM TAXES.  

 

 Steve Hiatt, with the Chamber of Commerce, spoke regarding this Resolution. He 

explained that this item is a result of McKee Foods Corporation’s intent to expand their 

headquarter facilities located in Collegedale, Tennessee. He reported that McKee will 

be investing approximately $102 million in new real and personal property. 

Approximately $20 million of the total investment will be allocated to the construction of 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

4 

 

a new conference center, and the remainder will go to new machinery and equipment 

for the Collegedale plant. It was noted that Chief Financial Officer Barry Patterson and 

Corporate Attorney Kurt Faires were both present to answer any questions regarding 

the PILOT agreement.   

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Hiatt explained that the 

PILOT agreement does meet all of the County’s qualifications. He added that the 

expansion will create approximately fifty new jobs over the next five years, with average 

annual wages of $43,843 before benefits. Mr. Hiatt noted that McKee has an existing 

PILOT agreement in which they have outperformed on all metrics defined in the 

agreement.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Attorney Taylor confirmed that 

he has reviewed the documents extensively and is satisfied with the terms of the 

agreement.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question regarding the cost benefit analysis 

of the increased school portion of property taxes, Mr. Hiatt reported he would email the 

analysis to Legislative Administrator Patricia Moore.  

 

 Several Commissioners thanked Mr. Hiatt and McKee Foods for their continued 

investment in Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

5 

 

 

Chairman Bankston thanked Mr. Hiatt for the presentation and noted he was not 

required to attend next week’s meeting. 

 

 Albert Kiser, Administrator of Finance, clarified for the Commission that the 

school portion of property taxes would be approximately $563,000 per year.  

  

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-25  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-25. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Mackey was not present for the vote. Total present – 8. 

Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

6 

 

Resolution Nos. 1015-33, 1015-36 through 1015-39, 1015-45, 1015-47, 1015-48, 

and 1015-51 through 1015-53 were heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-33  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

ARTSBUILD IN THE AMOUNT OF FIFTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($15,000.00) 

FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT 

EIGHT. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to adopt 

Resolution No. 1015-33. 

 

 Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  

Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

7 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-36  A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE COUNTY GENERAL 

FUND EXPENDITURE BUDGET FROM PREVIOUSLY UNBUDGETED FUNDS BY 

APPROPRIATING $11,388.89 TO THE 28TH COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION TO ASSIST THEM IN PAYING COUNTY PROPERTY TAXES AND 

APPLICABLE FEES AND PENALTIES FOR TAX YEARS 2011-2014. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-36.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

8 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-37  A RESOLUTION TO AMEND RESOLUTION NO. 915-30, 

AS PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, AND TO 

ADOPT THE CORRECTED FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAPS (FIRM), AS 

ASSOCIATED WITH THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM (NFIP), FOR 

THE UNINCORPORATED AREAS OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-37.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

9 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-38  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DILLARD 

CONSTRUCTION, INC. FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE SALE CREEK MIDDLE / 

HIGH SCHOOL ADDITION AMOUNTING TO $10,499,029.00 AND AUTHORIZING 

THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT 

THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-38. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

10 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-39  A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH TERRACON 

CONSULTANTS, INC. FOR CONSTRUCTION AND SPECIAL INSPECTION TESTING 

NECESSARY FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE SALE CREEK MIDDLE/HIGH 

SCHOOL ADDITION FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $54,000.00 OF 

PREVIOUSLY BUDGETED FUNDS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-39. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

11 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-45  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPOINTMENT 

OF A REPRESENTATIVE TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMUNITY 

CORRECTIONS ADVISORY BOARD. 

 

 This Resolution appoints Veronica Hurd to serve the remainder of Justin Strand’s 

term ending June 30, 2016. Justin Strand recently resigned from the board. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-45. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

12 

 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 1015-47  A RESOLUTION FOR DALLAS BAY VOLUNTEER FIRE 

DEPARTMENT TO SELL A 1998 FORD E-350 VAN WHICH IS CO-TITLED WITH 

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1015-47. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

13 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-48  A RESOLUTION FOR SALE CREEK VOLUNTEER FIRE 

DEPARTMENT TO SELL A 1991 FORD E-350 AMBULANCE WHICH IS CO-TITLED 

WITH HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1015-48. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

14 

 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 1015-51  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

CHATTANOOGA BOYS CHOIR IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 

DISTRICT NINE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-51. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  

Total “Nay” votes – 1. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

15 

 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 1015-52  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

HAMILTON COUNTY SPECIAL TACTICS AND RESCUE SERVICES (STARS) IN 

THE AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM 

GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-52. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  

Total “Nay” votes – 1. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

16 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-53  A RESOLUTION ADOPTING A POLICY PROVIDING 

FOR INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS INTO ALLEGATIONS OF 

NEGLIGENCE OR MISCONDUCT COMMITTED BY OFFICIALS, EMPLOYEES, 

AND/OR CONTRACTORS OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY MEDICAL EXAMINER’S 

OFFICE, AS THEY RELATE TO GRANTS RECEIVED BY HAMILTON COUNTY 

UNDER THE PAUL COVERDELL FORENSIC SCIENCE IMPROVEMENT GRANTS 

PROGRAM. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-53. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

17 

 

 

 Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 1015-26 through 1015-28, 1015-

34, 1015-35, 1015-40 through 1015-44, 1015-46, 1015-49, and 1015-50 be considered 

together.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-26  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ACCEPT A U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY 2015 PORT 

SECURITY GRANT AND AMENDING THE CAPITAL BUDGET OF THE SHERIFF’S 

OFFICE BY ADDING $95,025 TO REVENUES AND $126,700 EXPENDITURES. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-27  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 

JUSTICE GRANT AND TO AMEND THE SHERIFF’S OPERATING BUDGET BY 

INCREASING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES BY $19,859, PURSUANT TO THE 

GRANT TERMS, THE FUNDS MAY BE USED FOR CORRECTION PURPOSES 

ONLY. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-28  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF ON DUTY 

DEPOT FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING OCTOBER 21, 

2015 THROUGH OCTOBER 20, 2016, FOR VEHICLE COMPUTER CRADLES FOR 

THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 

ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

18 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-34  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE UNIT PRICE BIDS 

OF TELESOURCE SERVICES, LLC, SYNERGY TELECOM, INC., AND TEL-XL FOR 

NORTEL TELEPHONE EQUIPMENT FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING NOVEMBER 

19, 2015 THROUGH NOVEMBER 18, 2016 FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-35  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DON 

LEDFORD AUTO PARK FOR MODEL YEAR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING FOR 

FLEET STAFF SEDANS FOR HAMILTON COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-40  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF HENRY 

SCHEIN, INC., MIDWEST MEDICAL SUPPLY COMPANY, LLC, MOORE MEDICAL, 

LLC, AND BUY INDIAN MEDICAL FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING 

NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2016, FOR LABORATORY 

SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

19 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-41  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ROLL-AID 

INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY, SCHOOL SPECIALTY, INC. AND QUILL CORPORATION 

FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH 

NOVEMBER 6, 2016, FOR GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES FOR THE 

CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-42  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ACT 

BUSINESS MACHINES, INC. AND XPEDX FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, 

BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2016, FOR PRINTING 

AND PAPER SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-43  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF HENRY 

SCHEIN, ROLL-AID INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY, MIDWEST MEDICAL SUPPLY 

COMPANY, LLC, MOORE MEDICAL, LLC, AND KELSAN, INC. FOR CONTRACT 

UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2016, 

FOR INFECTION CONTROL SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON 

COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

20 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-44  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF AUTO 

NATION FORD OF MARIETTA FOR ONE (1) FIFTEEN PASSENGER VAN 

AMOUNTING TO $28,299.00 FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY  

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-46  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CUSTOM 

TRUCK AND BODY WORKS, INC. FOR TWO (2) TYPE I MEDIUM DUTY 

AMBULANCES AMOUNTING TO $385,698.00 FOR EMERGENCY MEDICAL 

SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 

NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-49  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF AUTO 

NATION CHEVROLET NORTHPOINT FOR TWO (2) HEAVY DUTY CARGO VANS 

AMOUNTING TO $49,622.00 FOR THE MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-50  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DON 

LEDFORD AUTO PARK, LLC FOR ONE (1) FULL SIZE SEDAN AMOUNTING TO 

$18,150.00 FOR THE CORRECTIONS DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

21 

 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd asked that Resolution Nos. 1015-26 through 1015-28 be 

voted on separately. He provided details regarding each Resolution and stated that the 

Finance Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1015-26 through 1015-28.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Commissioner Boyd asked that Resolution Nos. 1015-34, 1015-35, and 1015-40 

through 1015-43 be considered together.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

22 

 

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Gail Roppo, Purchasing Director, 

confirmed that the purchasing department has reviewed each item to ensure that 

specifications are met.  

 

Commissioner Boyd provided details regarding each Resolution and stated that 

the Finance Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1015-34, 1015-35, and 1015-40 through 1015-43.  

 

Commissioner Graham stated for the record that Roll-Aid Industrial Supply, one 

of the companies listed on Resolution Nos. 1015-41 and 1015-43, is a customer of his 

print shop.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields questions, Commissioner Boyd clarified that 

the Commission is currently considering Resolution Nos. 1015-34, 1015-35, and 1015-

40 through 1015-43. 

 

Attorney Taylor stated that Commissioner Graham’s announcement was 

sufficient notice and that it was not a conflict of interest for him to vote on Resolution 

Nos. 1015-41 and 1015-43.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

23 

 

 

The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Commissioner Boyd asked that Resolution Nos. 1015-44, 1015-46, 1015-49, and 

1015-50 be considered together. He provided details regarding each item and stated 

that the Finance Committee recommended approval.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Kiser clarified that the new 

vehicles will be replacing worn vehicles. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1015-44, 1015-46, 1015-49, and 1015-50.  

 

The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

24 

 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 1015-29A through 1015-32 be 

considered together.  

 

Details were furnished by Commissioner Haynes regarding the following 

Resolutions.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-29A  A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-2 LOCAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8228 HARRISON BAY ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-29B  A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-2 LOCAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8228 HARRISON BAY ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-30A  A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM M-2 

WHOLESALE AND LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT TO R-3 APARTMENT-

TOWNHOUSE DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6849 MOUNTAIN VIEW ROAD. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

25 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-30B  A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM M-2 

WHOLESALE AND LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT TO R-3 APARTMENT-

TOWNHOUSE DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6849 MOUNTAIN VIEW ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-31 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 

PERMIT FOR THE REVISION OF A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1521 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-32  A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 

PERMIT FOR THE REVISION OF A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1521 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD. 

 

 Commissioner Haynes stated the Zoning Committee reviewed and 

recommended approval of Resolution Nos. 1015-29B, 1015-30B, 1015-31, and 1015-

32.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes , seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1015-29B, 1015-30B, 1015-31, and 1015-32. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

26 

 

 The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 Commissioner Graham spoke about Resolution No. 315-13 that was passed on 

March 4, 2015. He clarified for the Commission that this Resolution provides the 

opportunity for individuals who wish to address the Commission to do so prior to the 

Commission voting on the item being considered. It was noted that individuals wishing 

to address the Commission should not exceed three minutes per speaker, and those 

who share views should be grouped together and afforded a total of ten minutes for the 

presentation of their collective views.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

27 

 

 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Commissioner Haynes congratulated the Sale Creek Volleyball team and the 

Hixson High School Volleyball team for advancing the state tournament.  

 

Commissioner Mackey reported that students from Sale Creek attended today’s 

meeting. He stated that they were very appreciative of the Commission’s support of the 

new construction and renovations at Sale Creek Middle/High School.  

 

Commissioner Graham announced his support for the Chicago Cubs in tonight’s 

National League Championship game.  

 

Commissioner Smedley announced that the Education Committee will be 

meeting in the adjacent commission conference room Wednesday, October 28th at 8:30 

am.  

 

Mayor Coppinger announced that the comprehensive annual financial report 

(CAFR) will be available on the county’s website this afternoon.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

28 

 

 

Chairman Bankston reminded the Commission that the Ooltewah Volleyball 

Team is playing in the state tournament in Murfreesboro today.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 

 Monty Bell, a homeless resident of Hamilton County for 17 years, addressed the 

Commission regarding racial disparity in the criminal justice system. Chairman 

Bankston reminded Mr. Bell that per Resolution No. 315-13, he has three minutes to 

make his presentation, and that he is not to publicly call out the name of any 

commissioner.  

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
OCTOBER 21, 2015 

 

29 

 

 
 

There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, October 28th at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

Approved:   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



























No. 1115-1 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
   
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, AND THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED.  

 
   
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2.  That persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 

COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
hereby  approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
approved as  taken; and 

 
3. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing is 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have been 
individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 



 

 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
NOVEMBER 4, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 1

 
Tammy Adams 6301 Pythian Rd. Hwy. 58 Volunteer F.D., Inc. 
 Harrison, TN 37341 5402 Hwy. 58 
 423-344-6464 Chattanooga, TN 37416 
  423-344-5770 
 
Velma Olivia Alford 6233 Canoe Lane Erlanger Health System 
 Chattanooga, TN 37416 975 E. 3rd St. 
 423-760-4058 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
  423-778-6737 
 
Sheila Beckmann 739 Mauldeth Road Chambliss, Bahner & Stophel, P.C. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 605 Chestnut St. 
 423-315-2457 Chattanooga, TN 37450 
  423-756-3000 
 
J. Black 235 Griffin Road Southeast Company, Inc. 
 Lookout Mtn., GA 30750 P.O. Box 2316 
 423-326-8736 Chattanooga, TN 37409 
  423-867-2290 
 
Luz Bohorquez 1321 Phils Dr. Punto Latino 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 400 Chickamauga Rd. 
 423-503-5923 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-296-6596 
 
Martha Brown 2329 Ringgold Rd. Cardiac and Vascular 
 LaFayette, GA 30728 1032 McCallie Ave. 
 423-421-9873 Chattanooga, TN 37403 
  423-693-2400 
 
Jonathan Cole 1220 Marlboro Ave. City of Chattanooga- Library 
 Chattanooga, TN 37412 1001 Broad St. 
 423-298-2794 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-757-5428 
 
Maria Consiglio 2018 Jacquelin Dr. Car-Mart of Hixson 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 4517 Hixson Pike 
 423-838-8072 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-954-0147 
 
Ginger Coulter 226 Main St. Harvest Grocery 
 Dayton, TN 37321 5414 Hixson Pike 
 423-847-5744 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-847-0200 
 
Donna H. Davis 9008 Greystone Valley Dr. Winningham & Winningham, PLLC 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 701 Market St., Ste. 1215 
 423-238-6647 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-267-2670 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
NOVEMBER 4, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 2

 
David Elliott 3 Fairhills Dr. Grant, Konvalinka & Harrison, P.C. 
 Chattanooga, TN 37405 633 Chestnut St., Ste. 900 
 423-933-3855 Chattanooga, TN 37450 
  423-756-8400 
 
Jaunita J. Fetty P.O. Box 261 Tri-State Roofing Contractors, LLC 
 Hixson, TN 37343 3126 Alton Park Alvd. 
 423-842-7663 Chattanooga, TN 37410 
  423-825-4261 
 
Linda L. Fraker 907 Crown Point Rd. East Pendleton Square Trust Company, LLC 
 Signal Mtn., TN 37377 P.O. Box 11504 
 423-517-8748 Chattanooga, TN 37401 
  423-661-3125 
 
Gail Griffith 10915 Plainview Dr. Winningham & Winningham, PLLC 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 701 Market St., Ste. 1215 
 423-902-2447 Chatttanooga, TN 37402 
  423-269-2670 
 
Brandi Kohl 324 Windsong Dr. Realty Title & Escrow Services 
 LaFayette, GA 30728 1510 Gunbarrel Rd., Ste. 106 
 423-681-0670 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-893-9556 
 
Jonathan M. Lakamp 1209 Crestway Dr. State Farm Insurance 
 Athens, TN 37303 7955 E. Brainerd Rd., Ste. B 
 423-800-4607 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  N/A 
 
Jodi L. Lane 12009 Clift Mill Road Lanes Equipment Rental, Inc. 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 619 Hudson Road 
 423-320-1819 Chattanooga, TN 37405 
  423-266-7402 
 
Judith C. Loyd 5020 Redvine Way The RLS Group, LLC 
 Hixson, TN 37343 4728 Adams Rd., Ste. 101 
 423-877-7502 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-847-0155 
 
DeAyn McClellan 3726 Occonechee Trail Bank of America 
 Chattanooga, TN 37415 1945 Northpoint Blvd. 
 615-489-6993 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-752-1235 
 
Amber McClure 10966 Lovell Rd. Trust Federal Credit Union 
 Soddy Daisy, TN 37379 7386 Applegate Ln. 
 423-544-1667 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-870-7613 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
NOVEMBER 4, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 3

 
Felicia McDaniel 1721 Bagwell Ave. N/A 
 Hixson, TN 37343 N/A 
 423-718-7919 N/A 
  N/A 
 
Rebecca H. Miller 16 Whispering Pines Dr. Chambliss, Bahner & Stophel, P.C. 
 Signal Mtn., TN 37377 605 Chestnut St., Ste 1700 
 423-886-2786 Chattanooga, TN 37450 
  423-757-0292 
 
Tiffany Oliver 7521 Passport Dr. The Crossing 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 7501 Standifer Gap Rd. 
 423-240-0933 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  N/A 
 
Natalie Posey 7904 Maranatha Way N/A 
 Georgetown, TN 37336 N/A 
 423-413-1971 N/A 
  N/A 
 
Meghan Sehon 1812 Terri Lynn Dr. Bank of America 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 1945 Northpoint Blvd. 
 423-827-5031 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-752-1235 
 
Ashley N. Sloan 8112 Karr St. State Farm 
 Chattanooga, TN 37421 6016 Shallowford Rd., Ste. 1100 
 309-669-8731 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  N/A 
 
Elizabeth Harris Sloan 10372 Baker Boy Drive Charles V. Collins, et. al. 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 7213 Noah Reid Rd., Ste. 102 
 423-326-2999 Chattanooga, TN 37421 
  423-702-8941 
 
Gabriel L. Smith 1108 Walston Ave., C-106 Law Office of Morgan G. Adams 
 Dalton, GA 30720 1419 Market St. 
 423-762-2938 Chattanooga, TN 37402 
  423-265-2020 
 
Pam Smith 7502 Florence Dr. Hudson Materials Company 
 Hixson, TN 37343 1615 Sholar Ave. 
 423-842-0320 Chattanooga, TN 37406 
  423-624-2631 
 
Frances Thompson 8446 Dunnhill Ln. C&J Pressure Washing Company 
 Hison, TN 37343 8446 Dunnhill Ln. 
 423-240-1653 Hixson, TN 37343 
  423-240-1653 



HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS 
NOVEMBER 4, 2015 

NAME RESIDENCE BUSINESS 

 4

 
Patricia Weathers 5227 Hwy. 153 Cash Express, LLC 
 Hixson, TN 37343 263 West Spring St. 
 423-605-2421 Cookeville, TN 38501 
  256-609-8569 
 
Sharon White 712 Beaverdale Rd. NE Taylor and Associates Law Group 
 Dalton, GA 30721 6432 Hixson Pike 
 706-264-6584 Chattanooga, TN 37343 
  423-305-7999 
 
Forestina Willis 700 Castle Dr. N/A 
 Chattanooga, TN 37411 N/A 
 423-468-3194 N/A 
  N/A 
 
Jeff Campbell 10104 Ooltewah Georgetown Rd. Wortham Laboratories, Inc. 
 Ooltewah, TN 37363 6340 Bonny Oaks Drive 
 423-593-6933 Chattanooga, TN 37416 
  423-296-0090 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



No. 1115-2 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REAPPOINTMENT BY THE COUNTY MAYOR 
OF ONE MEMBER TO THE CARTER STREET CORPORATION BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS FOR A TERM ENDING NOVEMBER 8, 2019. 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to Hamilton County Resolution No. 1281-10, certain members of the 

Carter Street Corporation Board of Directors are appointed by the County 
Mayor and confirmed by the Board of County Commissioners; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the County Mayor has reappointed William Raines, for a term beginning 

November 8, 2015 and ending November 8, 2019;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the reappointment of William Raines to the Carter Street Corporation Board of Directors 
is hereby confirmed for the term as stated above; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 





No. 1115-3 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO PUMPKIN PATCH IN THE AMOUNT OF 
TWENTY FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($25,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT TWO. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Jim Fields has expressed a desire to allocate Twenty Five Thousand 

Dollars ($25,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Pumpkin Patch to 
rebuild the playground used by the residents of Walden, Signal Mountain and Hamilton 
County; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be 
appropriated to Pumpkin Patch to rebuild the playground used by the residents of Walden, Signal 
Mountain and Hamilton County. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 



 

 

 
2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 

organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 











No. 1115-4 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO HARRISON RURITAN FOUNDATION, 
INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston has expressed a desire to allocate Five Thousand 

Dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Harrison Ruritan 
Foundation, Inc., to assist with the purchase of a commercial refrigerator and the 
replacement of lighting; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
Harrison Ruritan Foundation, Inc., to assist with the purchase of a commercial refrigerator and the 
replacement of lighting. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 



 

 

 
2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 

organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 











No. 1115-5 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF KELLY SERVICES, INC. FOR 
TEMPORARY EMPLOYMENT AGENCY SERVICES, BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2016 
THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2017, WITH THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR FOUR (4) 
ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR PERIODS, FOR THE HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

WHEREAS, Hamilton County periodically experiences emergency staffing needs; and, 

WHEREAS, our employment process cannot easily accommodate timely staffing in an emergency 
situation; and, 

WHEREAS, to meet this need, the Human Resources Department issued a Request for Proposal 
(RFP) and received responses from two employment agencies which were evaluated 
based on the criteria listed in the RFP; and, 

WHEREAS, these services will be coordinated through the Human Resources Department for 
quality assurance, cost effectiveness and ease of administration; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposal offered by Kelly Services appears to be the lowest and best proposal and 
appears to be in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 
the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 

That the proposal from Kelly Services, Inc. for temporary employment agency services, beginning 
January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2017, with the option to renew for four (4) additional one (1) 
year periods, for the Human Resources Department is hereby accepted, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution. 



 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 











No. 1115-6 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF APPLICATION SOFTWARE, INC 
dba ASIFLEX FOR FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN ADMINISTRATION SERVICES, 
BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2016, THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2018, WITH THE OPTION 
TO RENEW FOR THREE (3) ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR PERIODS, FOR THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 
TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, proposals were received in response to public advertisement for Flexible 

Benefits Plan Administration Services for Hamilton County employees; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposal from Application Software, Inc. dba ASIFlex was considered to 

be the lowest and best proposal received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the proposal of Application Software, Inc. dba ASIFlex for Flexible Benefits Plan 
Administration Services, beginning January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2018, with the 
option to renew for three (3) additional one (1) year periods, for the Human Resources 
Department is hereby accepted, said proposal being the lowest and best proposal received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 











No. 1115-7 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CHRYSLER DODGE JEEP RAM OF 
COLUMBIA FOR ONE (1) SPECIAL SERVICE TRUCK AMOUNTING TO $27,415.00 
FOR THE SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) special 

service truck for the Sheriff’s Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram of Columbia amounting to $27,415.00 

was considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram of Columbia for one (1) special service truck 
amounting to $27,415.00 for the Sheriff’s Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the 
lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 



































































No. 1115-8 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF ASC CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT USA, 
INC. FOR ONE (1) RUBBER TIRE WHEEL LOADER AND MULTIPLE ATTACHMENTS 
AMOUNTING TO $119,980.00 FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) rubber tire 

wheel loader and multiple attachments for the Highway Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from ASC Construction Equipment USA, Inc. amounting to 

$119,980.00 was considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of ASC Construction Equipment USA, Inc. for one (1) rubber tire wheel loader 
and multiple attachments amounting to $119,980.00 for the Highway Department is hereby 
accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to 
sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 



































No. 1115-9 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF SEPTEMBER 1, 2015, THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2015, AND TO AUTHORIZE 
THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between September 1, 2015, through September 

30, 2015.  
 
 September 2, 2015, $11,547.44 for 7,872 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.4669 per gallon 

from Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 September 3, 2015, $11,729.17 for 7,420 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.58075 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants.  
 
 September 8, 2015, $11,706.64 for 8,369 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.39881 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 September 9, 2015, $11,767.19 for 7,427 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.58438 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants.  
  
 September 9, 2015, $1,439.20 for 800 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.7990 

per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc..  
 
 September 15, 2015, $10,976.20 for 7,429 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.47748 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants.  
  
 September 17, 2015, $1,649.00 for 1,000 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 

1.6490 per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 September 18, 2015, $11,973.71 for 8,389 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.427311 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  



 

 

 
  September 28, 2015, $11,769.80 for 7,901 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.48966 per 

gallon from Parman Lubricants.  
 
 September 29, 2015, $12,053.30 for 8,396 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.4356 per gallon 

from Pilot Travel Centers, LLC. 
 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 







No. 1115-11 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF FOUR (4) LIFEPAK 15 CARDIAC 
MONITOR/DEFIBRILLATORS AND SUPPLIES AMOUNTING TO $147,657.88 FROM PHYSIO 
CONTROL, INC. FOR EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation received for four (4) Lifepak 15 cardiac monitor/ defibrillators and 

supplies amounting to $147,657.88 for Emergency Medical Services; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Physio Control, Inc. is the sole source for this product and supplies; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the amount of $147,657.88 is considered economically fair; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from Physio Control, Inc. for four (4) Lifepak 15 cardiac monitor/defibrillators and 
supplies for Emergency Medical Services amounting to $147,657.88 is hereby accepted, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 1115-12 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF CHATTANOOGA PAPER AND PACKAGING, 
KELSAN, INC., CHATTANOOGA NOLAND COMPANY AND ROLL-AID INDUSTRIAL 
SUPPLY FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH 
NOVEMBER 6, 2016, FOR MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / 
HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 
TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract unit 

pricing for maintenance supplies for the Health Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Chattanooga Paper and Packaging, Kelsan, Inc., Chattanooga Noland 

Company and Roll-Aid Industrial Supply were the lowest and best bids received; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Chattanooga Paper and Packaging, Kelsan, Inc., Chattanooga Noland Company and 
Roll-Aid Industrial Supply for contract unit pricing, beginning November 7, 2015, through November 
6, 2016, for maintenance supplies for the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department are hereby 
accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign 
any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 





























No. 1115-13 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-
HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE A 
CONTINUATION SUBCONTRACT IN THE AMOUNT OF  $156,000.00 WITH SOUTHSIDE/DODSON 
AVENUE COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTERS FOR THE PROVISION OF WOMEN, INFANTS AND 
CHILDREN (WIC) SERVICES FOR A 24 MONTH PERIOD TO INCLUDE OCTOBER 1, 2015 
THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2017. 

  
WHEREAS,  the overall objective of the Tennessee Department of Health’s and the 

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department’s Women, Infants and Children 
(WIC) program is to provide nutrition education and specific nutritious foods to 
low income women, infants and children who are determined to be income eligible 
and at nutritional risk; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department seeks to continue 

subcontracting with the Southside/Dodson Avenue Community Health Centers for 
WIC services; and 

 
WHEREAS, this program and services are for the health and well being of the citizens of 

Hamilton County.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
 That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached subcontract with the Southside/Dodson 

Avenue Community Health Centers in order in provide WIC services at the health centers for the 
period October 1, 2015 to September 30, 2017 in the amount of $156,000.00. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 





























No. 1115-14 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND THE HAMILTON COUNTY COALITION FOR SERVICES TO PREVENT 
THE INITIATION OF TOBACCO PRODUCT USE AND ELECTRONIC NICOTINE DELIVERY SYSTEM (ENDS) USE 
AMONG YOUTH USING ALREADY BUDGETED FUNDS FROM THE STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH’S 
TOBACCO SETTLEMENT GRANT IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $25,000.00 FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 
DECEMBER 31, 2016. 
 
WHEREAS,     the Tennessee Department of Health awarded Tobacco Settlement funds to the Health 
                         Services Division of Hamilton County, Tennessee, as reported in Resolution No. 515-27,  
                         for the purpose of eliminating pregnancy smoking, reducing second and third hand smoke 
                         exposure to children, and for the prevention of the initiation of smoking and Electronic  
                         Nicotine Delivery System (ENDS) use by youth; and 
 
WHEREAS,     in seeking to address the latter of the required use of the state funds noted above, the  
                         Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, due to limited staff resources and  
                         upon the advice of State Department of Health officials, has identified a local resource that  
                         will identify and create an inventory of local tobacco and ENDS retailers, establish a base- 
                         line of compliance with laws governing the sale of these products to youth, and increase  
                         tobacco and ENDS use prevention education and retailer compliance; and  
                           
WHEREAS,      the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department seeks a contractual arrangement 
                          with the Hamilton County Coalition to increase the prevention of the use of tobacco  
                          products and Electronic Nicotine Delivery System  products by youth for an amount 
                          not to exceed $25,000.00, for the period ending December 31, 2016. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor be authorized to execute a contract between the Health Services Division, Hamilton County, 
Tennessee and the Hamilton County Coalition for the period ending December 31, 2016 for an amount not to exceed 
$25,000.00 which is already budgeted and included in the revenue and expense budget for the Health Services Division.   
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, 
THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 



 
  

TOBACCO PREVENTION 
PROJECT 

Education, Awareness & Compliance 

Camilla Bibbs 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

 
Contact: Camilla Bibbs-Lee, Executive Director 
Phone:  423-305-1449  Fax: 423-305-1437    Email: cnbibbs@aol.com Website: www.hccoalition.org 
 
 
Agency Summary: The Hamilton County Coalition (HCC) is pleased to submit the Tobacco Prevention 
Project proposal for your review.   If awarded, the Hamilton County Coalition staff will implement 
evidence based tobacco prevention strategies that will facilitate positive community level change in 
Chattanooga and Hamilton County, Tennessee.   
 
Since its inception in 2005, the Hamilton County Coalition (formerly recognized as the M.L. King Weed & 
Seed) has operated as a community change agent.  In 2008, the Coalition was formally established as a 
501 © 3 nonprofit organization.  Our service delivery area includes all municipalities in Hamilton County 
region, and the Region 3 South network (which includes the surrounding southeast counties).  Our 
mission is to facilitate community level change through evidence based environmental prevention and 
community collaborations that include intervention/ prevention strategies, community policing & safety 
strategies, & neighborhood revitalization strategies.   
 
In order to effect comprehensive and sustainable community level change, the HCC utilized the 
SAMHSA’s public health approach to prevention and community change known as the Strategic 
Prevention Framework (SPF) to develop the Tobacco Prevention Project proposed in this document.  The 
SPF fundamentals involve several crucial continuous phases:  Community Assessment, Coalition 
Capacity, Planning, Implementation and Evaluation (Attachment 1).  During the Planning Phase of the 
Tobacco Prevention Project, the HC Coalition utilized SAMHSA’s “Seven Prevention Strategies for 
effective Community Change” to include: (Attachment 2 ).  

1. Provide Information 
2. Enhance Skills 
3. Provide Support 
4. Enhance or Reduce Access & Barriers 
5. Change Consequences 
6. Change Physical Environment 
7. Modify/ Change Policy  

 
Each of these elements are addressed in the Tobacco Prevention Project Implementation Plan.  The 
evidence-based environmental strategies will increase retailer compliance, reduce social acceptance and 
access to minors, and increase tobacco prevention through awareness and resilience among youth, 
teens, and families in Chattanooga and Hamilton County.   
 
 
Coalition Capacity: The Hamilton County Coalition is the only organization (governmental or non-
governmental) in Chattanooga or Hamilton County identified as providing evidence based 
environmental prevention strategies by a certified state prevention specialist.  The Coalition’s capacity 
to affect change relies heavily on a diverse, multi-disciplinary membership and collaboration that 
includes students, parents, grandparents, community leaders, law enforcement officers, state and local 
government workers, intervention/ prevention specialist, clergy, school officials, university professors, 
merchants, and healthcare professionals (Attachment 3). 
 

1 
 

mailto:cnbibbs@aol.com
http://www.hccoalition.org/


Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

The Hamilton County Coalition is also comprised of the Youth Empowerment Society (YES) which is our 
youth council that helps guide and implement the prevention activities.  The teen members participate 
in a four week training conducted by experts in the field of alcohol, illicit drugs, tobacco and Rx drug 
prevention.  In turn, the YES teens provide awareness, education and outreach support to elementary 
school and middle school youth.  Our members and partner agencies are dedicated to improving the 
quality of life for youth and families by facilitating safe, healthy tobacco free communities! 
 
The Hamilton County Coalition staff received recognition from the Community Anti-Drug Coalition 
Across America’s for achievement during the 2009 National Coalition Academy. Both the Coalition 
Director and Board members graduated from the year- long training focused on evidence based 
prevention strategies and community level change.  In addition, Camilla Bibbs-Lee, Director, is certified 
by the Tennessee Certification Board as a Prevention Specialist II. (See attachment 8) 
 
Project Need (Community Assessment): Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS) product use 
among teens and adults has soared in Hamilton County.  According to the 2015 Monitoring the Future 
Report, electronic cigarette use among teens has surpassed traditional cigarette use (16% e-cig vs. 6% 
traditional cig use).   Within the last two years, thirty five Vapor retailers or “Vape” shops have quietly 
moved into almost every neighborhood in Hamilton County.  Also, four hookah lounges have situated 
themselves in trendy neighborhoods and are becoming a part of the social scene among young adults.  
Even though the use of new products has surpassed traditional tobacco use, tobacco distributors have 
expanded their retail audience.  In addition to the 223 grocery and convenience stores already selling 
tobacco products, tobacco’s reach has the potential to include 58 liquor stores in Hamilton County. New 
regulations under the Tennessee Wine and Grocery store Law have allowed Liquor stores to sell tobacco 
products after July 2014. Currently, E-cig and hookah markets are operating with minimal regulations. 
Even when violations are identified, the penalty to the retailer is minor (ranging from a letter of 
reprimand to a $500 fine).   Tobacco, e-cig and hookah markets have increased their span and profit 
margins exponentially across Hamilton County. In order to keep youth and teen’s tobacco and nicotine 
free, the retailers must be educated on their responsibilities as a seller of tobacco and ENDS products.  
The tobacco and ENDS retailers must also be made aware of the expectations of the community at large 
not to sell tobacco and ENDS products to minors (education and sticker campaign). Also Tobacco and 
ENDS retailers must also be held accountable when they are not in compliance with regulations 
(increase compliance observations).   The Tobacco Prevention Project will increase Prevention by 
reducing youth access, and increasing retailer/ vendor education and enforcement. (See implementation 
plan attached). 
 
According to the 2013 Partnership for Success Survey, too many High school students are making 
unhealthy and dangerous decisions.  More than 30% admit to using some type of tobacco or electronic 
nicotine delivery system (ENDS) product. Almost 40% feel that it is easy to gain access to tobacco or 
nicotine products. Of the teens who attempt to purchase these products, almost 25% are successful at 
purchasing ENDS or tobacco products.  Research has long substantiated that the use of tobacco 
products is the gateway to use of more additive (and illicit) substances.  However, if the onset of 
substance use is delayed among youth and teens, then the probability that they will become addicted to 
any substance as an adult decreases significantly. Young people, who are engaged in meaningful 
activities and positive relationships have an increased likelihood of resisting substance use and abuse. 
Tobacco and electronic nicotine delivery system companies have developed new products that have 
decreased product identification and sensory detection (i.e.: seeing smoke, smelling tobacco, etc.), 
which has contributed to the increased popularity among teens and young adults.   The Tobacco 

2 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

Prevention Project will increase Prevention by reducing the social acceptance, and by increasing 
awareness and education among 12-25 year olds (and caregivers). 
 
Project Request: The Hamilton County Coalition is requesting $9,000 to initiate the Tobacco Prevention 
Project in Hamilton County, Tennessee.  The goal of the project is to increase tobacco prevention 
through increased awareness, education and retailer compliance.  
 
Phase 1 Prevention through Education & Awareness: The first phase of the project will be implemented 
from Nov/Dec 2015 – March 2015.  The Project will increase prevention of Tobacco and Electronic 
Nicotine Delivery System (ENDS) products by increasing retailer education among clerks and store 
owners and prevention awareness among youth and parents/ caregivers. The education materials will 
include the Tennessee Tobacco Retailer Education Guide, Electronic Nicotine Delivery System (ENDS) 
summary sheet, ENDS (No Sale if  under 18) decal, and letter describing the contents of the education 
packet  (attachment)  
 
Phase 2: Prevention through Education, Awareness & Retailer Compliance: The second phase of the 
Tobacco Prevention Project will be initiated in April 2016 (estimated $10,000 - $15,000). Phase 2 will 
incorporate both the Coalition effort and the Community effort to ensure that tobacco and ENDS 
retailers are following state laws and regulations indicated in the Tennessee Tobacco Retailer Education 
Guide.    In addition to activities conducted in Phase one, phase two will add retailer compliance 
activities that will prevent youth retail access to Tobacco and ENDS products by implementing the 
following: 

• Conducting tobacco and ENDS retailer compliance observations utilizing the FDA Tobacco 
Retailer Potential Violation form – (See attachment 9)  

• Documenting potential tobacco retailer law violations on an excel spread sheet (identifying the 
store, owner, street address and zip code), completing the tobacco assessment forms 
(attachment) 

• Reporting potential tobacco and ENDS retailer violations on the Coalition website by parents 
and caregivers (information disseminated at neighborhood meetings, community events, school 
activities, etc.) 

• Submitting potential retailer violations to the Department of Agriculture, Food and Drug 
Administration and the Tobacco Settlement staff.   

• Notifying the tobacco / ENDS retailer of the potential tobacco violation by postcard (if tobacco/ 
ENDS violation is observed) or “thank you” for being a responsible retailer postcard (if no 
potential violations were observed. 

 
Progress will be reported on a monthly basis (the 30th of each month) and prior to the submission of the 
monthly reimbursement invoice (5th of the following month).  
 
Project Objectives: 

1. By 12/15/2015, the HCC will complete the initial steps towards addressing tobacco and ENDS 
prevention by identifying all registered tobacco and ENDS retailers and lounges in Hamilton 
County. (Retailer Spread sheet used for  base line data in objective 2) 

2. By 03/15/2016, the HCC will increase awareness of the harmful health effects of tobacco and 
ENDS use through the “Tobacco & ENDS Retailer Education Campaign” to 90% of hookah 
lounges, vapor retailers and liquor stores (who sell tobacco products) identified in the 
spreadsheet registry.   

3 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

3. By 03/15/2016, the HCC staff and consultants (see implementation plan) will increase Tobacco 
and ENDS prevention by conducting 50 tobacco and electronic nicotine devices system product 
assessments (to gauge the types of  nicotine products sold in stores, placement of products,  
advertisement of products and price of products).  The assessments will be randomly conducted 
in all municipalities in Hamilton County where products are sold. Findings reported to HC Health 
Dept. 12/20/2015.  

4.  By 12/01/2015, Hamilton County Coalition’s YES participants will increase awareness of the 
dangers of tobacco and ENDS use among 300 elementary and middle school aged youth 
participating in after school programs. (pre and post survey evaluation) 

5. By 03/01/2016, Prevention Consultants and YES participants will increase awareness (of the 
dangers of all nicotine products and the dangers of 2nd and 3rd hand smoke) and  reporting of 
potential tobacco and ENDS retailer violations among parents and caregivers at 15 community, 
school, faith based and/ or neighborhood meetings and outreach activities (baseline website 
reporting data established. Comparison of reporting evaluated in phase 2).  

6. By 12/15/2016, HCC will increase prevention by conducting Tobacco and ENDS retailer 
observations and submitting potential retailer violations to the FDA, Department of Agriculture 
(regulatory authorities), and the Tobacco Settlement staff.   

7. By 12/30/2016, increase tobacco & ENDS retailer compliance (of the total non-compliant 
retailers reported by HCC consultants or reported on HCC website) by 25% as evidenced by 
reduction of non-compliant retailer observations community reports at neighborhood meetings 
and website reporting.    
 

Outcomes and Evaluation 
The process indicators on the implementation plan will be reported monthly/ quarterly as identified in 
the plan. The tobacco and ENDS retailers information will be saved on an excel spreadsheet to establish 
baseline data for comparison analysis and evaluation to determine the reduction in potential tobacco 
and ENDS retailer violations. Pre and post survey data will be evaluated when YES teens conduct 
awareness sessions.   
 

1. By 12/15/2015, the HCC will complete the initial steps towards addressing tobacco and ENDS 
prevention by identifying all registered tobacco and ENDS retailers and lounges in Hamilton 
County and create an ENDS sticker. Evaluation Plan: Develop spread sheet to establish base 
data for comparison analysis of ENDS and tobacco retailers. By December 20th 2015, review list 
to determine if there have been any changes to the list. 
 

2. By 03/15/2016, the HCC will increase awareness of the harmful health effects of tobacco and 
ENDS use by educating retailers utilizing the “Tobacco Retailer Education Guide and ENDS 
Summary Briefs and sticker Prevention Campaign” as evidenced by an 85% increase in 
knowledge reported by clerks at hookah lounges, vapor stores and liquor stores (who sell 
tobacco products) identified in the spreadsheet registry.  Evaluation Plan: Survey of all clerks 
and owners who receive Tobacco and ENDS education materials to determine if they have an 
increased understanding of the tobacco and ENDS retailer regulations. Brief Survey will be 
conducted after the education brief provided by the prevention consultant. The clerk responses 
will be entered into Survey Monkey and analyzed to determine increase/ decrease in 
knowledge.   
 

3. By 03/15/2015, the HCC staff and consultants (see implementation plan) will increase Tobacco 
and ENDS prevention by conducting 50 tobacco and electronic nicotine devices system retailer 

4 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

assessments to improve retailer practices in 80% of the establishments. The assessments will be 
conducted in one rural and one urban community of Hamilton County where products are sold. 
Findings reported to HC Health Dept. 12/20/2015. Evaluation Plan: Analyze Point of sale and 
tobacco marketing using ‘Tobacco & ENDS Store Assessment Form’ to identify possible risk 
factors that promote youth initiation and continued use of tobacco and nicotine products. (See 
attachment 10).  Health Department staff will utilize mapping to identify other risk factors.  
 

4. By 12/01/2015, Hamilton County Coalition’s YES participants will increase Tobacco and ENDS 
product prevention by increasing awareness of the dangers of tobacco and ENDS use among 300 
elementary and middle school aged youth participating in after school programs. Evaluation 
Plan: Analysis of pre and post survey evaluation to determine change in participants’ 
knowledge about the dangers of tobacco use and ENDS use.  
 

5. By 03/01/2016, Prevention Consultants and YES participants will increase prevention awareness 
(of the dangers of all nicotine products and the dangers of 2nd and 3rd hand smoke) and  increase 
community reporting of potential tobacco and ENDS retailer violations among adults (parents 
and caregivers) at 15 community, school, faith based and/ or neighborhood meetings and 
outreach activities by 20%.  Evaluation Plan: Identify base line data prior to intervention (3 
reports per month) and compare increase/decrease in website reporting monthly to determine 
change in community reporting of potential tobacco violations.  
 

6. By 12/15/2016, HCC will increase prevention by conducting 50 Tobacco and ENDS retailer 
observations and submitting potential retailer violations to the FDA, Department of Agriculture 
(regulatory authorities), and the Tobacco Settlement staff.  Phase 2. Evaluation Plan: Identify & 
compare tobacco and ENDS retailers who were compliant and non-compliance during 
observations to determine if the assessed risk factors contributed to noncompliance. 
  

7. By 12/30/2016, increase tobacco & ENDS retailer compliance (of the total non-compliant 
retailers reported by HCC consultants or reported on HCC website) by 25% as evidenced by 
reduction of non-compliant retailer observations community reports at neighborhood meetings 
and website reporting.   Evaluation Plan: Utilize comparison analysis to determine change in 
tobacco and ENDS retailer compliance. 

 
 All data, reports and work products will be forwarded to the Health Department staff for review and 
approval.  
For your review, please find the following attached: 
Proposed implementation plan & Budget  

• Attachment 1:Strategic Prevention Framework  
• Attachment 2: 7 Effective Strategies for Community Change 
• Attachment 3: Multidisciplinary Prevention Membership 
• Attachment 4: Logic Model 
• Attachment 5: Sample community scan post card 
• Attachment 6:Sample tobacco letter 
• Attachment 7: Retailer education log 
• Attachment 8: Certified Prevention Specialist II certificate 
• Attachment 9: FDA Tobacco Retailer Potential Violation form 
• Attachment 10: Tobacco & ENDS Store Assessment form  

5 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

 
 

TOBACCO PREVENTION IMPLEMENTATION PLAN & EXPECTED COSTS 
 

 
 
The  Implementation Plan Worksheet will assist in collecting process indicators that will provide a continuous record of the inputs (i.e., resources, 
costs) and work accomplished (amount and quality) in implementing the planned activities for each component of the Eight Strategies to Affect 
Community Change.  The information provided in each activity table will assist implementation as well as determining whether the coalition is 
accomplishing what has been planned.    Without successful implementation, outcomes cannot be attributed to the program.  Feedback on 
implementation performance is welcomed 
 
 
 
 
Strategies to Affect Community Change:  Intervention Implementation Plan for intervening variables in the logic model. 

 

Intervening Variable:  
Retail Access Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (Vapor & E-Cigarette Retail, Hookah 
Lounges, etc.) & Traditional Cigarette “hot spots” 

Local Contributing Factors: 1. 
Of the estimated 3900 youth who attempt to purchase cigarettes daily, approximately 24% are 
successful (American Lung Association, 2013). 

 

2. 

 
27% of Hamilton County tobacco retailers (in comparison to 15.1% TN) failed tobacco compliance 
checks. (Tobacco Enforcement, 2014)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

 
1. Policy, Practice, or Procedure Change 

 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator (s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; Weekly; 

Monthly; Quarterly) 

Who is 
responsible  

Resource(s) 
Needed 

Expected 
Total 
Cost 

1. Implement tobacco and 
electronic cigarette community 
compliance observations to 
improve retailer/vendor practices 
with tobacco regulations and tax 
revenue laws when selling 
traditional tobacco and electronic 
nicotine delivery system products. 
** Record Observations of 
nicotine sales and reports 
generated from the community, 
survey vendors/ retailers to 
determine if information provided 
changed policy & procedures. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Create spreadsheet for the 
following: 
 # of traditional tobacco retailers 
#of Vapor shops 
# of hookah lounges 
#of ENDS retailers at flea 
markets, community events, etc. 
in Hamilton County 
 
2. Assess the point of sale and 
marketing risk factors that 
influence minors to smoke 
tobacco and ENDS products. 
Record risk factors and discuss 
with clerk/ store owner. 
 
3 Implement retailer education 
and Sticker campaign. Distribute 
printed materials to retailers.  
 
4. # of new practices instituted by 
retailers/ vendors aimed at 
reducing tobacco use among 
youth by survey. 
 
 

Nov 
2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monthly 
To take place 
during tobacco 
compliance 
observations 
 
 

Coalition 
staff,  
Tobacco 
compliance 
consultant, 
Retailers/ 
vendors 

Tobacco 
education 
materials, 
Cigarette Tax 
information, 
Number of 
tobacco and e-cig 
retailers in 
Hamilton County,  
Information on e-
cig products 
being sold at flea 
markets and 
community 
events. Pre/post 
retailer 
assessment and 
Survey info. 

$2,000 

7 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

2. Providing Information  
 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator(s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; 

Weekly; 
Monthly; 
Quarterly) 

Who is responsible  Resource(s) Needed 
Expecte
d Total 

Cost 

1. Utilize the Youth 
Empowerment Society to serve 
as the core for Tobacco 
Prevention to reduce Tobacco & 
ENDS use among youth and 
young adults through social 
media, and at afterschool 
programs and community events.  

# of meetings held/attended 
# of attendees 
# of meetings or focus 
groups targeted at youthful 
audiences. 
# media communications 

Nov 
2015 

Quarterly YES teens, Coalition 
staff ,  Outreach 
Consultants, 
Tobacco  Free 
Chattanooga, 
County Health 
Department, and 
youth leaders/ 
volunteers 

Prevention materials, 
supplies, website and 
social network, 
printing, as well as 
media resources. 

$2,500 

 
 

3. Building Skills  
 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator (s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; Weekly; 

Monthly; 
Quarterly) 

Who is 
responsible  

Resource(s) 
Needed 

Expected 
Total 
Cost 

1. Coordinate retailer education 
/workshops for community 
associations, partners & local 
vendors (as requested) on 
tobacco compliance, including 
laws, vendor requirements, and 
violation consequences from the 
Dept. of Agriculture, Dept. of 
Revenue, etc.) to increase 
community understanding and 
retailer compliance.  

# of vendors/ retailers and community 
members  trained 
# of training events 
# of information items distributed 
 

Nov 
2015 

quarterly Coalition 
staff and 
Training 
consultants 

Presenter, 
meeting 
location; 
presentation 
equipment 
(projector, etc.); 
refreshments; 
handouts; 
retailer 
education 
books. 

1,500 
 

 

8 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

4. Providing Support  
 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator (s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; 

Weekly; 
Monthly; 
Quarterly) 

Who is responsible  
Resource(s) 

Needed 
Expected 

Total Cost 

1.  Provide tobacco and ends 
prevention resources to 
support to parents and youth 
at school and community 
events. ( i.e. cessation class 
information, Red line/crisis 
information, etc) 

# of informational items 
distributed to school resource 
officers 
- Collection and evaluation of 
information of school-related 
violation data 
# of informational items 
distributed to teens and parents 
at community events 
# of events attended  

Nov 
2015 

Quarterly Youth 
Empowerment 
Society 
participants, SROs, 

CADAS, STARS, 
ATOD,  E-Team, 
Bradford Health,  

Local High School 
Participation, 
Prevention 
materials, redline 
information, 
cessation class, 
information, office 
supplies 

$1500 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

5. Increase Barriers/Reduce Access 
 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator (s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; Weekly; 

Monthly; Quarterly) 

Who is 
responsible  

Resource(s) 
Needed 

Expected 
Total Cost 

1.  Report potential tobacco retail 
violations to reduce youth access 
to tobacco & electronic nicotine 
delivery system products, as well 
as increase vendor compliance to 
local regulations and laws 
governing access and sales. 

# of locations checked 
# of potential violators 
reported to regulatory 
agencies (local, state and 
federal) 
#referred to the state Dept. 
of Revenue 
# of “You May Be in 
Violation” and “Thank 
You for Keeping our Youth 
Safe and Smoke Free” post 
cards distributed to vendors 
who were in compliance at 
the time of the check and 
potentially non-compliance 
# Of citations issued by 
local state or federal 
authorities. 

Mar 2016 Quarterly Local law 
enforcement, 
ATOD, Dept. 
of Agriculture,  
Outreach, 
Compliance 
check 
participants, 
Coalition staff,, 
and Website 
consultant 

Compliance check 
consultants 
 
Compliance check 
assistants to help 
with the buy. 
 
Post cards to mail 
out to retailers/ 
vendors. 
 
Internet to submit 
the potential 
violation 
documentation 

n/a. phase 2 
begins in 
03/2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

6. Reduce Barriers/Increase Access 
 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator (s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; Weekly; 

Monthly; Quarterly) 

Who is 
responsible  

Resource(s) 
Needed 

Expected 
Total Cost 

1. Increase access to prevention  
resources and tobacco-free/ 
ENDS free events and activities 
by providing information at 
youth related events, town hall 
meetings and other community 
events. 

# of events attended 
# of informational items 
distributed 
# of youth attending events 

Nov 2015 Quarterly Coalition staff 
and consultants, 
Neighborhood 
associations, 
Youth 
Coalition, and 
Law 
enforcement 

prevention 
material, 
community/family  
event schedules, 
website hosting, 
printed materials 

$500 
 

 
 
 
7. Changing Incentives/Consequences  

 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator (s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; Weekly; 

Monthly; Quarterly) 

Who is 
responsible  

Resource(s) 
Needed 

Expected 
Total Cost 

1. Identify and post ENDS and 
tobacco vendor violations on the 
Coalition webpage and on social 
media to increase the informal 
consequences of non-compliance.  

# Of media outlets (news 
print, billboards, etc.) 
 

March 
2016 

Collected 
monthly, 
reported 
Quarterly 

Coalition staff, 
community 
leaders and 
volunteers, 
neighborhood 
groups, web-
based 
consultants 

Website resources, 
media resources, 
human resources, 
and technical 
support. 

N/A, starts 
03/2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 

11 
 



Hamilton County Coalition 
Tobacco Prevention Project Proposal 

8. Changing the Physical Design of the Environment  
 

Implementation Activities Process Indicator (s) 
Start 
Date 

Periodicity 
(Daily; Weekly; 

Monthly; Quarterly) 

Who is 
responsible  

Resource(s) 
Needed 

Expected 
Total Cost 

1. Manipulate physical design of 
retail stores and lounges by 
displaying prevention materials 
and mobile prevention signs 
(sandwich board and magnetic 
signs) where youth and young 
adults frequent 

# Sticker campaign- decals 
placed in store fronts 
#of mobile signs 
strategically placed 
# of magnetic vehicle signs 
distributed in the 
community 
 

Nov 2015 Quarterly Coalition 
consultants and 
community 
groups 

Technical support, 
Human resources, 
Prevention 
awareness 
materials, signs, 
and volunteers 

$1,000 

Total Cost Requested = $9,000 
Phase 1 

              *Phase 2   (Estimated Cost $10,000-$15,000) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

12 
 



No. 1115-15 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
November 4, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RE-DESIGNATING RANDALL L. RUSSELL AS CHIEF JUDICIAL 
COMMISSIONER FOR A TERM BEGINNING NOVEMBER 1, 2015, AND ENDING 
APRIL 30, 2016; AND ESTABLISHING THE COMPENSATION TO BE RECEIVED.  
 
WHEREAS,  in 1999 this County legislative body established the position of Judicial 

Commissioners to assist the General Sessions Court of Hamilton 
County, Tennessee, for a set term of office and at an established salary 
for each; and  

 
WHEREAS,  it is the decision of this County legislative body that Randall L. Russell 

continue in his designated position of Chief Judicial Commissioner with 
such duties and responsibilities as delineated in the Professional 
Employment Agreement(s) hereto attached. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That Randall L. Russell is hereby designated and re-appointed as Chief Judicial 
Commissioner with the duties of administering and coordinating all activities and 
scheduling of the Judicial Commissioners (as delineated in the attached Professional 
Employment Agreement), and shall receive additional compensation in the amount of 
Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) per year. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING 
IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 4, 2015 

  
Date 

 


	11-4-15 Public Agenda
	1115-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - October 14, 2015 _1915_10-14-15 Recessed
	1115-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - October 14, 2015 _1916_10-14-15 Agenda
	1115-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - October 21, 2015 _1918_10-21-15 Regular Minutes
	1115-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report - September 2015_1885_Sept 2015 Monthly
	1115-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report - September 2015_1886_Sept 2015 Excess Fee
	1115-1_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_1914_11-04-15
	1115-1_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_1914_11-04-15A
	1115-2_R_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of William Raines to the Carter Street Corporation Board of Directors for a term ending November 8 2019._1913_Bill Raines
	1115-2_S_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of William Raines to the Carter Street Corporation Board of Directors for a term ending November 8 2019._1913_Raines
	1115-3_R_Commissioner Fields_Allocation for the Pumpkin Patch_1889_Comm Fields Pumpkin Patch
	1115-3_S_Commissioner Fields_Allocation for the Pumpkin Patch_1889_0681_001
	1115-4_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Harrison Ruritan Foundation Inc_1917_Comm Bankston Harrison Ruritan
	1115-4_S_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Harrison Ruritan Foundation Inc_1917_0743_001
	1115-5_R_Alecia Poe_Temporary Employment Agency Services_1899_RES. TEMPORARY EMPLOYMENT STAFFING SERVICES
	1115-5_S_Alecia Poe_Temporary Employment Agency Services_1899_Temporary Employment Services
	1115-6_R_Alecia Poe_Flexible Benefits Plan Administration Services_1900_RES. FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN ADMINISTRATION SERVICES
	1115-6_S_Alecia Poe_Flexible Benefits Plan Administration Services_1900_Flexible Benefits Plan Administration Services
	1115-7_R_Sheriff Hammond_Special Service Truck_1911_RES. SPECIAL SERVICE TRUCK
	1115-7_S_Sheriff Hammond_Special Service Truck_1911_Special Service Truck
	1115-8_R_Todd Leamon_Rubber Tire Wheel Loader with Attachments_1894_RES. RUBBER TIRE WHEEL LOADER
	1115-8_S_Todd Leamon_Rubber Tire Wheel Loader with Attachments_1894_Rubber Tire Wheel Loader
	1115-9_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel September 2015_1901_Fuel Resolution September 2015
	1115-9_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel September 2015_1901_September 2015 docs
	1115-11_R_Don Allen_Lifepak 15 Cardiac Monitor Defibrillators and Supplies_1907_RES. (4) LIFEPAK 15 DEFIBRILLATORS & SUPPLIES
	1115-11_S_Don Allen_Lifepak 15 Cardiac Monitor Defibrillators and Supplies_1907_Physio Control Cardiac Monitors Defibrillators & Supplies
	1115-12_R_Becky Barnes_Maintenance Supplies Contract_1902_RES. MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES CONTRACT
	1115-12_S_Becky Barnes_Maintenance Supplies Contract_1902_Maintenance Supplies Contract
	1115-13_R_Becky Barnes_WIC contract with Southside Dodson Avenue Community Health Centers._1906_WIC contract with Southside Dodson Avenue Community Health Centers.
	1115-13_S_Becky Barnes_WIC contract with Southside Dodson Avenue Community Health Centers._1906_WIC SSDA 2017 contract
	1115-14_R_Becky Barnes_Tobacco Settlement Grant_1909_Tobacco Settlement Grant 2016
	1115-14_S_Becky Barnes_Tobacco Settlement Grant_1909_Tobacco Prevention Project
	1115-15_R_Rheubin Taylor_Chief Magistrate Re Designation

